No. 43218-8-II

IN THE
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II,
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,

v.

CHADWICK LEONARD KALEBAUGH,
Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Carol A. Elewski, WSBA # 33647
Attorney for Appellant
P.O. Box 4459
Tumwater, WA 98501
(360) 570-8339

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A. Assignment of Error

1. The trial court erred in instructing the jury, during its preliminary instructions, that: “If after your deliberations you do not have a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant’s guilt, then, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt. On the other hand, if after your deliberations you do have a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant’s guilt, then, you are not satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.”

2. The trial court erred in allowing the issue of Mr. Kalebaugh’s guilt to go to the jury when the evidence was insufficient to convict as a matter of law.

3. The trial court erred in adding, over Mr. Kalebaugh’s objection, the following sentence to the standard jury instruction defining “sexual contact”:
“Contact is intimate, if the contact is of such a nature that a person of common

intelligence could fairly be expected to know that under the circumstances the parts touched were intimate and therefore the touching was improper.”

4. The trial court erred in overruling the defense objection to the prosecutor’s argument that, “Now you as a jury get to decide what counts as an intimate part of the person’s body.”

5. The trial court erred in overruling the defense objection to the prosecutor’s argument that, “even if [the touching] was closer to the knees or closer to the belly button, rubbing on her, that’s an intimate area. Anywhere in that zone [between the knees and the belly button] is intimate. You wouldn’t feel comfortable with a stranger touching you anywhere near, probably nowhere on your body, but especially nowhere between that zone. That’s an intimate part of your body.”

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

1. Were Mr. Kalebaugh’s due process rights violated when the trial court instructed the jury it had to convict unless it could articulate a reason to acquit, an instruction which shifted the burden of proof and undermined the presumption of innocence?

2. Did the State fail to prove the charged crime when the only evidence of wrongdoing was given by a witness who saw movement under a

blanket somewhere in the area between the alleged victim's knees and belly button and, thus, the State failed to prove the touching of an intimate or sexual body part done for the purpose of sexual gratification?

3. Did the trial court incorrectly define sexual contact when it added a sentence to the pattern jury instruction which, although it was based in case law, taken out of context allowed the jury to find *any* body part to be an intimate body part and to base its determination on the place touched, not the defendant's conduct or the purpose of the touching?

4. When the State told the jury that any place between a person's knees and waist is an intimate body part, did it misstate the law and prejudice Mr. Kalebaugh when only parts in close proximity to the genitalia or breasts are intimate body parts and nonsexual body parts are deemed intimate based on the purpose of the touching?

5. If none of the errors requires reversal on its own, is reversal nevertheless required for cumulative error?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

By information filed October 31, 2011, the State charged Mr. Kalebaugh with Child Molestation in the First Degree, allegedly committed on or about

October 28 to 29, 2011, against H.R.S. and in violation of RCW 9A.44.083.

Clerk's Papers (CP) 1-3. The State filed an amended information December 16, 2011, adding two aggravating factors: vulnerable victim and abuse of a position of trust. CP 4-6, 7.

Prior to trial, the court ruled the child victim was not competent to testify at trial and none of her out-of-court statements was admissible at trial. CP 15-17. It also held admissible Mr. Kalebaugh's statements to the police. CP 17.

Mr. Kalebaugh was convicted after a three-day jury trial, the Honorable Richard L. Brosey presiding. CP 34; Verbatim Reports of Proceedings for January 3, 2012 (1VRP), January 4, 2012, (2VRP), and January 5, 2012 (3VRP). The jury found the vulnerable victim aggravating factor had been proven, but the abuse of a position of trust had not. CP 35, 36.

Mr. Kalebaugh moved for a new trial on the grounds of improper prosecutorial argument. CP 37-40. The court denied the motion, CP 55-56, after conducting a hearing on the matter. 3VRP 54-69.

At sentencing held on March 16, 2012, 3VRP 70-82, it was determined that Mr. Kalebaugh had an offender score of 1, with a sentencing range of 57 to 75 months to life in prison under RCW 9.94A.507. CP 66. The court imposed

sentence of 72 months to life in prison and community custody for life, plus costs and fees. CP 67-68.

Notice of appeal was timely filed the day of sentencing. CP 80-94.

B. Substantive Facts

1. Evidence of the Offense.

In October 2011, Kristal Strong; her three children; her current romantic partner, William Sheldon Joyce (frequently referred to at trial as Sheldon); and several friends, including Mr. Kalebaugh and Brianna Suasey shared a house in Napavine. 1VRP 21-23, 47. Mr. Kalebaugh and Joyce had known each other most of Joyce's life. 1VRP 51. Suasey's romantic partner, Randy Grantham, frequently spent the night and was there the night of the incident. 1VRP 43. Tiffany Schultz was temporarily staying at the house with her two boys and five-year-old daughter, the alleged victim in this case, H.R.S. 1VRP 23 & 82.

Following a birthday party for Strong's five-year-old son, Strong put her two boys to bed upstairs. 1VRP 25. H.R.S. went to sleep downstairs on the love seat in the living room, covered with a blanket. 2VRP 20, 1VRP 26; *but see* 1VRP 24 (Strong said H.R.S. went to sleep on the couch). Schultz also made beds for her two boys in the living room; one on a reclining chair, the other on the couch. 2VRP 20, 1VRP 52; *but see* 1VRP 25 (Strong stated all the boys slept upstairs).

Schultz had made a bed of blankets on the floor next to the love seat where she planned to sleep that night. 1VRP 37. Mr. Kalebaugh generally slept on the couch in the living room or, if Schultz was there, on a bed in the garage. 1VRP 41, 51.

Strong, Schultz, Joyce and Mr. Kalebaugh went out to the garage to play a drinking game, beer pong. 1VRP 24-25. Joyce and Mr. Kalebaugh split an 18-pack of beer; Schultz “had a few” drinks, 1VRP 25, or drank a Mike’s hard beverage. 1VRP 49. Sometime after midnight, Suasey and Grantham returned from a Halloween party, bringing with them three of Grantham’s friends, including Jacob Murphy. Grantham’s friends were not known to the people who lived in the Napavine house. 1VRP 26, 39, 50, 91-92. Two of these friends were drunk and fell asleep on beds in the garage when the others went inside. 1VRP 26, 92. Murphy and Grantham had not drunk anything that night. 1VRP 92; 2VRP 70.

Grantham and Suasey went inside so Grantham could shower; Grantham had gotten covered in blood while breaking up a fight at the Halloween party. 1VRP 40 & 92. He came back downstairs after the shower and then they all decided to go upstairs to smoke. 1VRP 95. When Grantham went inside, Mr. Kalebaugh was still in the garage. 1VRP 99. At some point, however, Grantham saw Mr. Kalebaugh on the bed of blankets Schultz had made on the floor of the living room. 1VRP 99-100.

About ten minutes after Grantham went up for a shower, the others went upstairs to Suasey's room to smoke and take a look at Grantham's leg, which reportedly had been severely cut. 2VRP 22, 77. Before going upstairs, Schultz gave Mr. Kalebaugh a cigarette and saw him head toward the garage. 2VRP 23, 48. Aside from Grantham's two friends asleep in the garage, only Murphy, Mr. Kalebaugh and three children remained downstairs. 2VRP 23.

Nineteen-year old army private Jacob Murphy settled to sleep on a reclining couch in the living room, across from H.R.S. asleep on the love seat; two boys were also sleeping in the room. 2VRP 23, 72-73, 68, 96. As Murphy settled in, Mr. Kalebaugh was sitting on the bedding on the floor, watching TV. 2 VRP 76. Someone turned off the lights in the room and, as Murphy was falling asleep, someone turned the TV off. Murphy opened his eyes and saw Mr. Kalebaugh when he heard the click of the TV. 2VRP 73. The shades were open and the room was illuminated by the porch lights from outside, allowing Murphy to see fairly well. 2VRP 73-74.

Murphy closed his eyes to fall back asleep, but within minutes and before he fell asleep, he "heard rustling, like someone was moving a lot." 2VRP 74,76. He opened his eyes and saw Mr. Kalebaugh "chest up against the love seat with his hand underneath the blanket towards the girl's groin area." 2VRP 74. His hand

was “making a back and forth movement” under the blanket. 2VRP 74. Mr. Kalebaugh’s hand was “right at her waistline.” 2VRP 75. Murphy could not tell the exact location of Mr. Kalebaugh’s hand, but was sure it was below the girl’s waist. 2VRP 75. The touching seemed to be in the middle of the space between the girl’s belly button and knees. 2VRP 109. The girl was lying on her back with one leg propped against the back of the couch and appeared to be sleeping. 2VRP 75, 77, 109. Ten to fifteen minutes had passed since the other adults went upstairs. 1VRP 33, 43; 2VRP 24, 77.

As soon as he saw this, Murphy confronted Mr. Kalebaugh, saying, “you know what you are doing is way wrong.” 2VRP 77, 90. Mr. Kalebaugh removed his arm quickly and turned to face Murphy, seeming surprised, “like he went to a surprise party.” 2VRP 78, 92-93. Murphy thought Mr. Kalebaugh then pretended to fall asleep: he rolled over, closed his eyes and faced the TV. 2VRP 77-78. Murphy went upstairs to tell the other adults, meeting Joyce on his way down. 2VRP 78. After describing the incident to Joyce, Murphy continued upstairs and told Schultz, H.R.S.’s mother. 2VRP 78-79; *but see* 1VRP 95-96 (Grantham testified Murphy called to him and Joyce from the stairway and told them both about the matter at the same time).

Joyce continued downstairs to talk to Mr. Kalebaugh. 1VRP 55. He found him standing in the garage, with the lights off and a cigarette in his hand. 1VRP 56. Joyce did not notice if the cigarette was lit. 1VRP 56; *but see* 1VRP 76 (on cross examination Joyce said he was certain Mr. Kalebaugh was not smoking the first time he talked to him). Joyce asked Mr. Kalebaugh if he touched the girl; Mr. Kalebaugh responded “no.” 1VRP 56. Mr. Kalebaugh did not seem upset or angry, just surprised and confused. 1VRP 56 & 76-77. Joyce went back inside; H.R.S. was still on the couch and seemed to be sleeping, but the boys had been moved upstairs. 1VRP 57. He went upstairs and asked Murphy again what had happened. 1VRP 58.

Joyce then returned downstairs to talk to Mr. Kalebaugh a second time. He found him sitting on the freezer in the garage, smoking. 1VRP 76. Mr. Kalebaugh had the same demeanor as before, calm and surprised. 1VRP 58-59 & 76-77. He again denied touching the girl. No one came downstairs with Joyce to question Mr. Kalebaugh. 1VRP 58-59.

According to Murphy, however, after Joyce came upstairs and told him Mr. Kalebaugh had denied anything happened, he and Joyce returned downstairs, where Joyce confronted Mr. Kalebaugh in the living room. 2VRP 79. Murphy heard Joyce ask Mr. Kalebaugh if he was sure he did not do anything. Mr.

Kalebaugh paused, looked down and away, and denied doing anything. 2VRP 88. Murphy said, "You are lying." 2VRP 88. Mr. Kalebaugh did not respond verbally; he just looked shocked. 2VRP 88. After this confrontation, Mr. Kalebaugh lay down on the couch. 2VRP 108. By then, H.R.S. had been taken upstairs. 1VRP 29 & 32, 2VRP 26.

When Schultz learned about Murphy's allegations, she went to get H.R.S. 2VRP 26. H.R.S. was awake, lying on her back, and seemed groggy as though she had been sleeping. 2VRP 26-27; *but see* 1VRP 98 (Grantham said H.R.S. was facing the couch with her back towards the living room). H.R.S.'s sleeping shorts were pushed up toward her hip on the side closest to the outside of the couch and were wrinkled where they were pushed up. 2VRP 27-28. The shorts were up to her waistline, to the point where her underwear was visible. 2VRP 28. Schultz had not seen her shorts pulled up to that extent before. 2VRP 28.

Mr. Kalebaugh had been living at Strong's house about six months at the time of the incident. 2VRP 123. He testified that he and Joyce went out to the garage around 8:30 that night to drink while the children were still up. 2VRP 126-27. Strong and Shultz came out to the garage around 10:30 to 11 and drank with the others. 2VRP 127-28. The children, ranging in age from four weeks to five

years, were left in the house alone. 2VRP 128. Grantham, Suasey, the two drunk friends and Murphy arrived around 1:30 to 1:45. 2VRP 128.

When Mr. Kalebaugh went inside to the restroom, he got a cigarette from Schultz. 2VRP 130. Mr. Kalebaugh remembered that Murphy and one of Schulz's sons were sleeping on either side of the reclining couch and another boy was on the reclining chair. Mr. Kalebaugh planned to sleep on the large couch. 2VRP 130-31; *but see* 2VRP 152, 156 (Schultz and Murphy did not believe either boy slept on the reclining couch near Murphy). Before going to sleep, he went out to the garage to smoke the cigarette Schultz had given him. 2VRP 132-33. The next time he spoke to anyone was when Joyce came outside and talked to him about Murphy's accusation. Joyce came out a second time to discuss the matter. 2VRP 133. Mr. Kalebaugh had had no contact with H.R.S. About eight to ten minutes elapsed after everyone went upstairs before he was contacted by Joyce. He knew this because his cigarette was not yet finished when Joyce came outside. 2VRP 135.

After the talk, Mr. Kalebaugh went inside and lay down on the couch. Murphy told him to go outside. Mr. Kalebaugh thought Murphy wanted to fight him, so he refused. 2VRP 134; *but see* 2VRP 145 (Murphy testified he told Mr. Kalebaugh the cops were there and he had to go outside).

The police officer who responded to the 911 call that night went inside and found Mr. Kalebaugh lying awake on the couch. The officer brought him outside and secured him in his patrol car. 2VRP 54-55. When he spoke with Mr. Kalebaugh, Mr. Kalebaugh said he did not touch anybody and had been smoking a cigarette and sleeping on the couch. 2VRP 55-56. He was “pretty calm,” “very compliant, and “his response to everything was I didn't touch anybody.” 2VRP 56, 60. He said Schultz had given him a cigarette, which he smoked in garage, before returning to the living room, where he fell asleep on the couch. 2VRP 56. He denied sleeping on the floor. 2VRP 56-57. Mr. Kalebaugh emitted a strong smell of alcohol. 2VRP 58.

The nurse practitioner who performed a physical examination of H.R.S. determined she was a healthy, normal young girl. She was not surprised there were no findings; it is normal in sexual assault cases to have no physical findings. 1VRP 83.

2. Jury Instructions and Argument

In its preliminary instructions to the jury, the trial court gave the following instruction on reasonable doubt:

A “reasonable doubt” is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person, after fully, fairly and carefully considering all the evidence or lack of evidence. If

after such consideration you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt. *If after your deliberations you do not have a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant's guilt, then, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.*

On the other hand, if after your deliberations you do have a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant's guilt, then, you are not satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

1VRP 9 (emphasis added). The portion of the instruction printed in italics above was added to the pattern advance oral jury instruction. *See* 11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 1.01 (3d ed. 2008) (WPIC). Mr. Kalebaugh did not object to this instruction. The pattern reasonable doubt jury instruction was given at the conclusion of the evidence portion of the trial. 2VRP 167-68 (Jury Instruction No. 2); *see* WPIC 4.01.

Over Mr. Kalebaugh's objection, 2VRP 159-51, the trial court gave the following jury instruction defining sexual contact:

"Sexual contact" means any touching of a sexual or other intimate part of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desires of either party.

Contact is intimate, if the contact is of such a nature that a person of common intelligence could fairly be expected to know that under the circumstances the parts touched were intimate and therefore the touching was improper. When considering whether a particular touching is done for the purpose of gratifying a sexual desire, you may consider among other things the nature and circumstances of the touching itself. Sexual contact may occur through a person's clothing.

2VRP 169 (emphasis added). The portion of the instruction printed in italics above was added to the pattern jury instruction defining sexual contact. *See* WPIC 45.07.¹

During its closing argument, the State argued, “Now you as a jury get to decide what counts as an intimate part of the person’s body.” 3VRP 11. Mr. Kalebaugh objected to this statement and the court overruled the objection. *Id.*

The State had the following to say about sexual contact:

So just because it’s not right in the vagina doesn’t mean that it’s not necessarily sexual contact.

Think about it. The whole reason the region is kind of intimate, especially if you don’t know this person, let alone that they are five and you are 32, but even though the touching was above the knees and below the belly button, and when asked Private Murphy said it was towards the middle of that zone, that’s right over the vagina, and even if it was closer to the knees or closer to the belly button, rubbing on her, that’s an intimate area. Anywhere in that zone is intimate. You wouldn’t feel comfortable with a stranger touching you anywhere near, probably nowhere on your body, but especially nowhere between that zone. That’s an intimate part of your body.

3VRP 11-12. The court overruled Mr. Kalebaugh’s objection to this argument.

3VRP 12.

1. When the court read the instructions to the jury, it apparently stated, “Contact is intimate, if the *contact* . . .” 2VRP 169 (emphasis added). However, the written instructions, three copies of which were provided to the jury, 2VRP 163-64, read, “Contact is intimate, if the *conduct* . . .” CP 25 (emphasis added).

IV. ARGUMENT

POINT I: The Trial Court's Preliminary Instruction on Reasonable Doubt Was Reversible Error Because its Emphasis on "a Doubt for Which a Reason can be Given as to the Defendant's Guilt" Shifted the Burden of Proof and Undermined the Presumption of Innocence

A. The Instruction was Manifest Constitutional Error

The trial court violated Mr. Kalebaugh's due process rights and committed manifest constitutional error when it added to the standard preliminary jury instruction on reasonable doubt the following sentences:

If after your deliberations you do not have a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant's guilt, then, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

On the other hand, if after your deliberations you do have a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant's guilt, then, you are not satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

1VRP 9. The court's incorrect emphasis on "a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant's guilt," improperly implied the jury had to convict unless it could articulate a reason to acquit, shifting the burden of proof and undermining the presumption of innocence.

Jury instructions "must define reasonable doubt and clearly communicate that the State carries the burden of proof." State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). "A challenged jury instruction is reviewed de novo, in the context of the instructions as a whole." *Id.* Although Mr. Kalebaugh did not object

to the jury instruction in this case, an incorrect instruction as to reasonable doubt is manifest constitutional error that may be heard for the first time on appeal. *See* RAP 2.5(a); State v. Lundy, 162 Wn. App. 865, 870, 256 P.3d 466 (2011) (noting no trial objection and deciding issue of reasonable doubt instruction that did not conform to pattern jury instruction); *see also* State v. Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 304, 253 P.3d 84 (2011) (noting, “RAP 1.2(a) mitigates the stringency of [RAP 2.5(a)], providing that the RAPs are to “be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits”).

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