No. 43218-8-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

CHADWICK KALEBUAGH,

Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County

Respondent's Brief

JONATHAN L. MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

SARA I. BEIGH, WSBA No. 35564 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

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

Mr. Joyce went back downstairs and Pvt. Murphy heard Mr. Joyce ask Kalebaugh if Kalebaugh was sure he did not do anything. 2RP 79-80. Pvt. Murphy could see Kalebaugh, who paused and looked down and away before saying no. 2RP 79-80, 88. Pvt. Murphy came down the stairs and confronted Kalebaugh again by saying, "You are lying." 2RP 88. Kalebaugh looked shocked but did not say anything. 2RP 88. Ms. Strong took her phone outside to call the police. 1RP 29. The children that were downstairs were grabbed and taken upstairs. 1RP 96-97; 2RP 26.

T.S. collected her daughter from downstairs. 2RP 26. T.S. found H.S. lying on her back on the couch, groggy. 2RP 26-27. H.S. was still under the blanket. 2RP 27. H.S. was wearing her normal sleeping attire, shorts and a pajama top. 2RP 27-28. H.S.'s shorts were pushed up towards her hip on H.S.'s left side, which was the side that was facing the outside of the couch. 2RP 27. The shorts were wrinkled around where they were pushed up. 2RP 27-28. The shorts were also pulled up to H.S.'s waistline and her underwear was visible. 2RP 28. T.S. had never seen H.S.'s shorts in this condition when H.S. was sleeping. 2RP 28.

The police arrived and Pvt. Murphy told Kalebaugh he needed to go outside. 2RP 145. Pvt. Murphy stated that Kalebaugh said, "I didn't do anything wrong. I don't need to go outside." 2RP 145, 148. Kalebaugh said he did not want to go outside because he thought Pvt. Murphy wanted to fight him. 2RP 134. Pvt. Murphy next told Kalebaugh "You need the get the fuck outside." 2RP 145, 148. Napavine Police Officer Noel Shields came inside the house and told Kalebaugh, who was lying on the couch, that he needed to come outside. 2RP 54.

The State charged Kalebaugh by amended information with one count of Child Molestation in the First Degree. CP 4-6. The State alleged the aggravating circumstances of a particularly vulnerable victim. CP 5. There was a child hearsay hearing. CP 15. H.S.'s statements were suppressed by the trial court. CP 17. Kalebaugh elected to have his case tried to a jury. *See* 1RP; 2RP; 3RP. The jury found Kalebaugh guilty of Child Molestation in the First Degree. CP 36. The jury also found that Kalebaugh knew, or should have known, that H.S. was a particularly vulnerable or incapable of resistance. CP 35. Kalebaugh's trial counsel filed a motion for relief from judgement and a new trial. CP 37-40. The trial court denied Kalebaugh's motion. CP 55-56. The trial court

sentenced Kalebaugh to a standard range sentence of a minimum

term of 72 months with a maximum of life. CP 66-67. Kalebaugh

timely appeals his conviction. CP 80-94.

The State will supplement the facts as necessary throughout

its argument below.

III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. KALEBAUGH CANNOT RAISE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL THE TRIAL COURT'S ALLEGED IMPERMISSIBLE STATEMENT IN ITS PRELIMINARY INSTRUCTION REGARDING REASONABLE DOUBT BECAUSE IT IS NOT A MANIFEST CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR.

Kalebaugh claims the trial court shifted the burden of proof in

its preliminary oral instruction to the entire panel of prospective

jurors prior to voir dire. Brief of Appellant 17-26. The trial court

advised the prospective jurors the following:

...The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty to that charge. The plea of not guilty puts in issue each and every element of the crime charged. The State as the plaintiff has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt each and every element of the crime charged. The defendant has no burden or duty to prove that a reasonable doubt exists nor does he have the obligation to call witnesses or produce evidence.

In a criminal case a defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout this entire trial, unless or until during your deliberations you find it's been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt. A "reasonable doubt" is one for which a reason exists and may arise from evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person, after fully, fairly and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If after your deliberations you do not have a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant's guilt, then, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

On the other hand, if after your deliberation you do have a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant's guilt, then, you are not satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt...

1RP 8-9. Kalebaugh did not object to the trial court's preliminary instruction. 1RP 8-11. Kalebaugh is now attempting to assert to this Court that the last two paragraphs above, the "if after your deliberations you do not have a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant's guilt...", is a manifest constitutional error that he can now raise for the first time on appeal. Brief of Appellant 17-22. The alleged error is not a manifest constitutional error. The error, if one exists, would be constitutional but Kalebaugh does not demonstrate to this Court how the error is manifest. Therefore, Kalebaugh cannot raise this issue for the first time on appeal.

1. Standard Of Review

A claim of a manifest constitutional error is reviewed de novo. *State v. Edwards*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 280 P.3d 1152, 1155 (2012). Challenged jury instructions are reviewed de novo and evaluated in the context of the instructions as a whole. *State v. McCreven*, __ Wn. App. __, 284 P.3d 793, 802 (2012).

2. Kalebaugh Did Not Object To The Allegedly Erroneous Preliminary Instruction And Fails To Show This Court That The Alleged Error Is A Manifest Constitutional Error.

An appellate court generally will not consider an issue that a party raises for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 97-98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333-34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The origins of this rule come from the principle that it is the obligation of trial counsel to seek a remedy for errors as they arise. *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 98. The exception to this rule is "when the claimed error is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right." *Id., citing* RAP 2.5(a). There is a two part test in determining whether the assigned error may be raised for the first time on appeal, "an appellant must demonstrate (1) the error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension." *Id. (citations omitted).*

The reviewing court analyzes the alleged error and does not assume it is of constitutional magnitude. *Id.* The alleged error must be assessed to make a determination of whether a constitutional interest is implicated. *Id.* If an alleged error is found to be of constitutional magnitude the reviewing court must then determine whether the alleged error is manifest. *Id.* at 99; *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333. An error is manifest if the appellant can show actual prejudice. *O'Hara* 167 Wn.2d at 99. The appellant must show that the alleged error had an identifiable and practical consequence in the trial. *Id.* There must be a sufficient record for the reviewing court to determine the merits of the alleged error. *Id. (citations omitted).* No prejudice is shown if the necessary facts to adjudicate the alleged error are not part of the record on appeal. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333. Without prejudice the error is not manifest. *Id.*

a. The preliminary oral instruction to prospective jurors was not erroneous.

The State is not agreeing that the preliminary instruction to the prospective jurors was in error. Kalebaugh cites to the "fill-inthe-blank" cases to exemplify how the trial court's preliminary instruction was error and shifts the burden which is an error of constitutional dimensions. Brief of Appellant 18-21.⁶ In all of those cases, the deputy prosecutor during closing argument would make an argument similar to the following:

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists. That means, in order to find the defendant not guilty, you have to say "I don't' believe the defendant is guilty because," and then you have to fill in the blank. It is not something made up. It is something real, with a reason to it.

State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 424, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009). The Court held that the deputy prosecutor's argument was improper because it implied that the jury had to be able to find a reason to acquit the defendant which in turn "made it seem as though the jury had to find Anderson guilty *unless* it could come up with a reason not to". *Anderson,* 153 Wn. App. at 431 (emphasis original). The Court held this was an improper implication that the jury initially had an affirmative duty to convict the defendant. *Id.* The Court also held that the argument implied the defendant had the burden of supplying the reason why he or she is not guilty, which is impermissible because the defendant has no affirmative duty. *Id.*

⁶ Citing State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); State v. Emery, 161 Wn. App. 172, 253 P.3d 413 (2011); State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010); State v. Venegas, 155 Wn. App. 507, 228 P.3d 813 (2010); State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009).

The trial court here did not require prospective jurors to fill in

the blank. It did not demand the prospective jurors be able to

articulate the reason why the defendant was not guilty. The trial

court, in an oral statement to the entire venire stated:

If after your deliberations you do not have a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant's guilt, then you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

On the other hand, if after your deliberation you do have a doubt for which a reason can be given as to the defendant's guilt, then, you are not satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

1RP 9. This oral instruction is not the same as stating in order to find the defendant not guilty you must state, "I don't believe the defendant is guilty and fill-in-the-blank." The fillin-the-blank argument demands the jurors articulate why the defendant is not guilty. It does not allow for the defendant to be presumed innocent because a juror is being commanded to find the defendant guilty unless the juror can state the reason for which he or she does not believe the defendant is guilty. In the oral preliminary instruction given by the trial court here, the trial court is simply conveying, albeit in more detail, the definition of reasonable doubt, which is, "a reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exits..." WPIC 4.01. The prospective jurors are not being told that they must convict unless they can state what their doubt is, the prospective jurors are told that if they have no doubt for which a reason can be given then they are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt. It is a subtle but important distinction. Therefore, the preliminary oral instruction to prospective jurors was not in error.

b. If the preliminary oral instruction was erroneous it was not a manifest error.

While the State maintains throughout its argument that the instruction was not erroneous, arguendo, the error alleged by Kalebaugh, that the preliminary instruction to prospective jurors shifted the burden of proof, is an error of constitutional dimension as it violates the due process clause. *State v. Redwine*, 72 Wn. App. 625, 629, 865 P.2d 552 (1994) (citations omitted). Therefore, the analysis in this case must be focused on whether the alleged error is manifest.

An error is manifest if a defendant can show actual prejudice. *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011). Actual prejudice requires a defendant to make a "plausible showing... that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." *O'Hara*,167 Wn.2d at 99 (internal citations and quotations omitted). Kalebaugh has not satisfied this requirement. First Kalebaugh argues that because *Anderson* was decided in 2009 and the cases subsequent to *Anderson* all held that the fill-in-the-blank argument was improper, the error was obvious at the time it was committed. Brief of Appellant 21. As argued above, the trial court's preliminary instruction is not identical to the fill-in-the-blank argument made by deputy prosecutors during their closing arguments. The difference between the two statements is sufficient that the trial court would not have foreseen the error. *See O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 100.

Second, Kalebaugh makes a circular argument that the error had a practical and identifiable consequence on his trial because it undermined his presumption of innocence due to the shifted burden. Brief of Appellant 22. This is not an identifiable consequence. It does not acknowledge that the proper jury instruction defining reasonable doubt was given at the end of day two of the jury trial. 2RP 168; CP 22. The pattern jury instruction for reasonable doubt was included in the Court's Instructions to the Jury and three complete sets of instructions were provided to the jury to use during their deliberations. WPIC 4.01; 3RP 41-42; CP 22. Kalebaugh does not articulate how this alleged erroneous

preliminary oral instruction to the venire had a practical and identifiable consequence to his trial. Therefore, Kalebaugh has not satisfied the requirements to show this Court that the error is manifest and the alleged error is not properly before this Court.

3. If The Preliminary Instruction Was Erroneous It Does Not Constitute A Structural Error.

If the preliminary instruction regarding reasonable doubt given to the venire was erroneous, the error did not render the trial unreliable or fundamentally unfair and the error is therefore not a structural error. See State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 149, 217 P.3d 321 (2009). A structural error requires automatic reversal and is not subject to a harmless error analysis. State v. Mosteller, 162 Wn. App. 418, 429-30, 254 P.3d 201 (2011), review denied 172 Wn.2d 1025 (2011). Structural errors only occur in a limited number of cases and most constitutional errors can be subject to a harmless error analysis. Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999). "Constitutional violations that defy harmless-error review "contain a 'defect affecting the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself." *Mosteller*, 162 Wn. App at 430, *citing Neder*, 527 U.S. at 8. A defective reasonable doubt jury instruction, which used a definition of reasonable doubt that had

been previously ruled unconstitutional, has been held to be structural error. *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 113 S. Ct.

2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993).

In the present case the erroneous⁷ preliminary oral instruction to prospective jurors, given prior to voir dire, does not render the trial fundamentally unfair or unreliable. *Mosteller*, 162 Wn. App. at 430. This instruction was not given to the jury at the close of evidence and was not provided to the jury during its deliberations. Further, right before the trial judge said the erroneous instruction he spoke of the presumption of innocence and also stated:

> The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty to that charge. The plea of not guilty puts in issue each and every element of the crime charged. The State as the plaintiff has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt each and every element of the crime charged. The defendant has no burden or duty to prove that a reasonable doubt exists nor does he have the obligation to call witnesses or produce evidence.

1RP 8. The jury instructions are to be considered in the context of the instructions as a whole. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). In regards to the preliminary instruction to the prospective jurors this would mean the entire instruction as

⁷ The State is making this argument in the alternative and continues to maintain that the instruction is not erroneous.

given, which included the correct statement that Kalebaugh is not required to produce or prove anything and that it is the State's burden to prove every element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. 1RP 8. The erroneous instruction in this case is not structural is therefore subject to the harmless error test.

4. If The Preliminary Instruction Was Erroneous The Error Was Harmless.

Not every misstatement in a jury instruction will relieve the State of its burden. *State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330, 339, 58 P.3d 889 (2002). However, "a conviction cannot stand if the jury was instructed in a manner that would relieve the State of this burden." *Brown*, 147 Wn.2d at 339 (citations and internal quotations omitted). A jury instruction that misstates the law is subject to a harmless error analysis. *State v. Hayward*, 152 Wn. App. 632, 646, 217 P.3d 354 (2009) (citations and internal quotations omitted). "In order to hold the error harmless, we [,the reviewing court,] must conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error." *Brown*, 147 Wn.2d at 341 (citations and internal quotations omitted).

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